## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,623

a

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,

Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

JENNIFER M. COREY Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0999717

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
1533 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 407-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Groover was indicted on **two** counts of first degree murder on February **25**, 1982 (R. 2). Mr. Groover entered a plea of guilty to one count of murder, pursuant to a negotiated agreement, made several official statements at the prosecution's request, and **was** deposed by the co-defendants' attorneys, where he again made statements. Thereafter, Mr. Groover's attorney withdrew the guilty plea. Subsequently, Mr. Groover was reindicted, this time on three counts of murder (R. 33). The new indictment was based on the statements elicited from Mr. Groover after his guilty plea.

On January 11, 1983, Mr. Groover was convicted on three counts of first degree murder (R. 255). A jury recommended advisory sentences of life on Count I and Count 11. The jury recommended a death sentence on Count III (R. 252-54). The court overrode the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Groover to death on Count I, to life imprisonment on Count II, and to death on Count III on February 18, 1983 (R. 268-70).

а

On direct appeal Mr. Groover raised several claims attacking his convictions and death sentences. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. Groover v. State, 458 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1984). Certiorari review was denied. Groover v. Florida, 471 U.S. 1009 (1985).

Mr. Groover filed his original Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on June 1, 1986, and the trial court summarily denied relief on the same date. An appeal from the denial was taken to

the Florida Supreme Court. The court remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine trial counsel's ineffectiveness for "failing to inquire into his [Mr. Groover's] competency to stand trial and for failing to order a psychiatric evaluation of appellant."

Groover V. State, 489 So. 2d 15, 17 (Fla. 1986). An evidentiary hearing was conducted and the lower court denied relief. An appeal from the denial was taken and the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's order. Groover V. State, 574 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991).

While the appeal from the trial court's denial of the competency issue was pending in the Florida Supreme Court, Mr.

Groover filed his second Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on July 31, 1989, raising the issue presented in <a href="https://hittps:

On August 11, 1994, this Court issued its opinion in <u>Parker</u>
v. State, 643 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1994), vacating the death

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Florida Supreme Court had dictated that this claim be **filed within two years** of the <u>Hitchcock</u> opinion. <u>See Hall V.</u> <u>State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 1989).

sentence of Robert Lacy Parker, Mr. Groover's co-defendant at trial. Mr. Parker was subsequently sentenced to life without parole for twenty-five years by the trial court.

On December 4, 1994, Mr. Groover filed another motion to vacate judgment and sentence with request for leave to amend (PC-R2. 11). Mr. Groover alleged that Parker's life sentence was newly discovered evidence that should be considered in mitigation of Mr. Groover's death sentences. On February 2, 1995, Mr. Groover amended his motion to vacate judgment and sentence with request for leave to amend, and claimed that certain state agencies had not provided public records pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (PC-R2. 27). Mr. Groover requested leave to amend his motion once the state agencies complied with Chapter 119 (PC-R2. 28).

On May 30, 1995, the trial court issued a seven-page order denying Mr. Groover's amended Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R2. 52). Mr. Groover was afforded neither an evidentiary hearing on his motion, nor a hearing wherein counsel could present legal argument, pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993). On June 19, 1995, Mr. Groover filed a motion to rehear the trial court's order denying the motion for post-conviction relief (PC-R2. 88). The trial court denied that motion on August 24, 1995 (PC-R2. 97). This appeal followed.

All Mr. Groover's post-conviction proceedings have been heard by Hon. R. Hudson Olliff, Circuit Judge, who was also Mr. Groover's trial judge.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Since this Court reviewed Mr. Groover's death sentences on direct appeal and in prior post-conviction proceedings, Mr. Groover's co-defendant, Robert Parker, received a life sentence. Parker's life sentence is newly discovered evidence establishing the impropriety of Mr. Groover's death sentences. Scott v.

  Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992). As a result of Parker's life sentence, Mr. Groover is also entitled to life sentences because Parker was the dominant force in the homicides, Mr. Groover acted out of fear of Parker, Mr. Groover was highly intoxicated at the time of the homicides, and Mr. Groover suffers from organic brain damage and mental retardation. The lower court erred in denying relief, and Mr. Groover's death sentences violate the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 2. The lower court erred by denying Mr. Groover's motion without providing Mr. Groover an opportunity to present argument on the motion.
- 3. The lower court erred by denying Mr. Groover's motion without an evidentiary hearing.
- 4. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Groover's amended motion on the grounds that it was not verified and not permitted, and because his public records issues were untimely.

#### ARGUMENT I

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE THAT MR. GROOVER'S CO-DEFENDANT RECEIVED A LIFE SENTENCE ESTABLISHES MITIGATION THAT DEMANDS MR. GROOVER'S DEATH SENTENCES BE REDUCED TO LIFE. FURTHER, THIS NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT MR. GROOVER'S DEATH SENTENCES ARE ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, DISPROPORTIONATE, DISPARATE, AND INVALID, IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Evidence of a co-defendant's life sentence may be considered in mitigation. Scott (Abron) v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992); Messer v. State, 330 so. 2d 137 (Fla. 1970); Gafford v. State, 387 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 1980); Brookings v. State, 495 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 1986). In Scott v. Dugger, this Court held that a co-defendant receiving a life sentence subsequent to the defendant's review on direct appeal constitutes newly discovered evidence:

Even when a codefendant has been sentenced subsequent to the sentencing of the defendant seeking review on direct appeal, it is proper for this Court to consider the propriety of the disparate sentences in order to determine whether a death sentence is appropriate given the conduct of all participants in committing the crime. Witt v. State, 342 So. 2d 497 (Fla.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 935, 98 S. Ct. 422, 54 L.Ed.2d 294 (1977). While Witt involved review of a death sentence on direct appeal, this case involves review in a 3.850 proceeding. Scott characterizes Robinson's life sentence, which was imposed after this Court affirmed Scott's conviction and death sentence, as "newly discovered evidence" and, thus, cognizable under Rule 3.850.

Scott (Abron) v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 1992).

Mr. **Groover's** co-defendant, Robert Parker, had his death Sentence vacated by this Court, <u>Parker v. State</u>, 643 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1994), and was resentenced to life. The court's imposition of a life sentence in Mr. Parker's case occurred after this Court had affirmed the conviction and sentence in Mr. Groover's case and was thus unavailable for consideration earlier.

This Court has outlined two requirements a defendant must meet in order to win relief because of newly discovered evidence:

Two requirements must be met in order to set aside a conviction or sentence because of newly discovered evidence. First, the asserted facts "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence." Hallman, 371 so. 2d at 485. Second, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial."

Jones v. State, 591 so. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991) The Jones standard is also applicable where-the issue is whether a life or death sentence should have been imposed. Id.

**Scott, 604** So. 2d at 468.

In Mr. Groover's case, both requirements have been met and relief is appropriate. As noted above, co-defendant Robert

Parker's life sentence was not imposed until after Mr. Groover's direct appeal and prior post-conviction proceedings were completed. Thus, this fact could neither have been known nor discovered at the time that this Court previously reviewed Mr. Groover's death sentences.

The second requirement is met because Mr. Parker was the chief instigator of the offense and exercised total control and dominance over Mr. Groover, who suffers from organic brain damage

and mental retardation. <u>See</u> Claims I, III, IV and XII of Mr. **Groover's** 1986 Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence.

Tommy Groover and Robert Parker were tried separately.

Judge R. Hudson Olliff presided over both trials. At Robert

Parker's trial for the Padgett, Sheppard and Dalton murders, the

State introduced plentiful evidence that Mr. Parker, not Tommy

Groover, had instigated the murders, and had intimidated Billy

Long and Tommy Groover into aiding him. In fact, on the

afternoon of February 5, 1982, shortly before Tommy Groover began

his efforts to collect money to pay Robert Parker for drugs he

had given away, Parker had threatened to kill Groover. To show

that he was serious, Parker threw a rope over a tree and told

Tommy he would hang him.

Michael Green testified that Robert Parker demanded money owed to him by several people who were gathered outside his trailer on February 5, 1982. Green owed Parker \$30 for some PCP. He gave Mr. Parker a .22 caliber pistol as payment (PT. 1565).

Mr. Parker took the pistol and began pointing it at other people who owed him money (PT. 1567).

Mr. Green testified that he left for a while. When he returned, he observed:

Q: Okay. You didn't know exactly what time it was?

A: I don't exactly recall what time it was. But, anyway, we got back from -- after I caught a ride back over there at Tinker's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>"Tinker" is the nickname of Robert Parker.

house, well, got dropped off and Tinker and Tommy was out there and Tommy was --

O: Out where?

A: Out there in the front yard.

Q: All right.

A: And Tommy was out there and, I mean, Tinker and Tommy was arguing.

**Q:** What was the substance of this conversation?

A: It must have been over some money because Tinker told Tommy he wanted his goddamn money today.

Q: All right. What else did he say? What was his tone of voice?

A: He was real angry and nervous, you know, pissed off. And he said, kept telling him he wanted his goddamn money today. And Tommy said, you know, "I will give it to you tomorrow. Give me until tomorrow and I will have your money."

Q: What else did Tinker say?

A: Tinker told him that he -- just that he wanted his goddamn money, if he didn't he was going to hang him. And he pointed over there to a rope that was hanging from the tree that had a noose on it.

Q: This is a rope in Tinker's yard.

A: Yes, sir.

Q: All right. How long was it?

A: It was about 50 or 60 foot long. Well, it was over a big old tree limb, it was pretty high, one of them big old pine trees. And the rope was hanging from that.

Q: How was Tommy -- excuse me, Tommy Groover acting?

A: Tommy was scared.

(PT. 1567-68).

In Judge **Olliff's** findings of fact justifying imposition of the death penalty against Robert Parker, he found:

The day before the homicidal events began, Parker placed a rope over a tree limb and told Groover he would hang him if he did not pay the drug debt. The day of the homicides Parker again threatened to kill Groover if he did not get the money.

\* \* \*

[T]he homicidal events started when defendant [Parker] made threats of death to enforce payment of drug debts.

\* \* \*

Defendant threatened to kill Groover if he did not get drug money.

Defendant (Parker] threatened and intimidated others but was himself never threatened.

\* \* \*

This defendant is the person who had guns and was armed most of the time and he is the person who repeatedly threatened to kill Groover.

(PT. 476-508).4

The State in its litigation involving Robert Parker has also maintained that Mr. Parker was the "ring leader," "ordered all three deaths" and "dominated" Tommy Groover:

It is virtually beyond dispute that Parker was the leader of a small-time drug business and that he dominated Tommy Groover. At all times relevant to this case, Groover was collecting money for Parker (R 1244) out of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Significantly, Judge Olliff did not attach Parker's sentencing order to the court's order denying Mr. **Groover's** 1994 Rule 3.850 motion.

fear that Parker would kill or injure him.
(R 1131, 1141, 1177, 1179). Groover was scared of Parker. (R 1244, 1178). Even when Groover was armed, he was obedient to Parker.
(R 1182, 1241). The record is devoid of any instances where Groover hit Parker, screamed threats at Parker, gave Parker orders or even stood up to Parker's physical and verbal assaults. At best, Parker's attempt to slough off these murders on his employees are disingenuous. There was no credible evidence upon which the jury's recommendation could have rested.

(Answer of Appellee on Remand at 22-23, <u>Parker v. State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 63,700).

In weighing Parker's life sentence as it relates to the second part of the Scott test, the lower court failed to consider the substantial and compelling mitigation established at Mr.

Groover's trial. The trial record is saturated with evidence of the use of drugs and alcohol. The State's own witnesses attested to the heavy use of drugs and alcohol on the day and night of the murders. The County Medical Examiner, Dr. Peter Lipkovic, testified that he arranged for tests of Richard Padgett's blood.

The tests showed .18 percent blood alcohol, and the presence of PCP (TR. 680). Dr. Lipkovic testified that the use of alcohol might exaggerate the effects of PCP (TR. 682-83).

Dr. Lipkovic also testified that Nancy Sheppard's blood showed the presence of trace amounts of morphine (TR. 685). Dr. Bonifacio Floro, an Assistant Medical Examiner, performed the autopsy of the woman identified as Jody Dalton. Blood toxicology tests found the presence of alcohol and cocaine (TR. 697).

On cross-examination, William Long, the man who actually shot and killed Nancy Sheppard, testified that Tommy Groover and he consumed quaaludes at about 8 p.m. (TR. 858), drank several beers, and smoked a "dime bag" containing a half ounce of marijuana (TR. 856-860). Another State witness, Morris Johnson, testified that he, Richard Padgett, and Tommy Groover shared a gram of "T" (PCP) and got "really fried" (TR. 934).

Tommy Groover took the stand and confirmed that he had injected PCP along with Richard Padgett and Morris Johnson. He was so "messed up" by the drug that he started sanding a hole in his sister's car (TR. 1248). At his pretrial deposition as a State witness against Tinker Parker, Tommy Groover testified that he injected some "T" (PCP) before 10 o'clock on the morning of the homicides. He also took LSD and quaaludes, and drank three or four six packs of beer (R. 495). He explained he did not recall what had been said that day. Id.

Describing the fight with Richard Padgett, Tommy Groover said he was "wasted"; he had taken more drugs than Robert Parker who was "pretty high" (R. 813). He again stated that he had also taken "acid" (LSD), "T" (PCP), and quaaludes (R. 814). When pressed for details, Tommy Groover explained he simply could not remember because he was "wasted" (R. 537; 563; 578). Tommy Groover explained that he had taken more drugs than anybody else (R. 578). All told, Tommy Groover, as a State witness testified he consumed:

<sup>(</sup>i) 2 quarter sacks of pure uncut PCP -- a third of a gram (R. 655). This affected

him mentally so that he "did not know what he was doing" (R. 656).

- (ii) a case of beer (R. 657).
- (iii) some marijuana, which "kicked him right back to the PCP "high" (R. 670).
- (iv) at least 300 mg. of quaaludes (R. 661).

Further, testimony showed that Mr. Groover had never previously been known to be violent. It was shown that on November 8, 1978, Mr. Groover had risked his own life to rescue his sister and her children from their burning home (TR. 1731-32).

Finally, Tommy Groover is unusually susceptible to intimidation and domination by others. Because of his low intelligence, resulting from organic brain damage, Tommy Groover depended on others to make decisions for him. Throughout his life, he looked to older siblings and neighbors to give him advice. This advice was frequently contrary to his best interests. These "friends" encouraged Tommy to experiment with drugs, a pattern of behavior Tommy repeated when he met Robert Parker, who sold drugs and used Tommy as a courier.

These facts notwithstanding, the lower court found, "[T]he defendant and Parker were not equally culpable in the murders" (PC-R2. 56). The court further found:

In his motion, the defendant claims that the second requirement is satisfied because the

**This** mitigating evidence was not presented at trial, and thus was not considered by Judge **Olliff** in sentencing Mr. Groover to death.

defendant was dominated by Parker. However, the court previously determined that the defendant was not acting under the extreme duress or domination of Parker. (Exhibit A, p. 13).

(PC-R2. 56A n.2). The court went on to find that Mr. Groover was in fact more culpable than Parker (PC-R2. 56A). The court, in its order denying Mr. Groover's motion, made no mention of the evidence at trial of Mr. Groover's intoxication, nor did the court attach any portion of the record dealing with Mr. Groover's intoxication. Further, the lower court ignored the record of Parker's trial and the court's own sentencing findings in Parker's case, where the court found that Parker dominated and controlled Mr. Groover. This evidence supports Mr. Groover's contention that Parker was in control.

The flaws of logic in the lower court's order are many. First, the lower court's only citation to the portion of the record attached to its order refers to page 13 of its order sentencing Mr. Groover to death. Page 13 is a discussion of the "extreme duress or substantial domination of another" mitigation circumstance, \$921.141(6)(e), Fla. Stat. When sentencing Mr. Groover to death, the lower court rejected the application of the duress or domination mitigating circumstance (PC-R2. 72-73). (PC-R2. 72-73). In rejecting this mitigating circumstance, the lower court found that Mr. Groover was not acting under extreme duress or the substantial domination of Mr. Parker. As this Court has often held, the language of the statutory mitigating circumstance means just what it says: in order for this

mitigating circumstance to apply, the duress must be extreme, or the domination must be substantial. That the lower court rejected the substantial domination mitigating circumstance does not prove that Mr. Groover was not dominated in any way by Parker, much less that Mr. Groover was more culpable than Parker. The lower court found, in sentencing Parker to death, that Parker's participation in the murders was "major and predominant," and that Parker had threatened to kill Mr. Groover if Mr. Groover did not collect the drug debt owed to Parker by victim Richard Padgett. See Groover v. State, 458 So. 2d 226, 229 (Fla. 1984). In now finding that Mr. Groover was more culpable than Parker, the lower court conveniently ignored its finding at the time of sentencing that Parker's participation was "major and predominant."

\*\*\*

Parker was the instigator of the three murders in this case. . . . The killings were instigated by Parker to assure fiscal control over his drug dealers. The people who actually killed the victims and received lesser sentences, in effect, worked for Parker and killed the victims at Parker's behest.

(Overton, J., and Grimes, C.J., dissenting).

<sup>6</sup>See also Parker v. State, 643 So. 2d 1032, 1036-37 (Fla.
1994) (appeal after remand):

When Groover was unable to pay Parker, Parker allegedly threatened to hang Groover unless the debt was satisfied. Testimony indicated Parker was of a violent temperament, had possession of firearms and was irritated over the drug debt.

Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992), which held that a post-conviction litigant may raise a co-defendant's life sentence, imposed after the litigant was sentenced to death, as newly discovered mitigating evidence. The facts of <u>Scott</u> are as follows:

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