IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE

JUN 5 1996

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By Criter Deputy Sterk

ν.

CASE NO. 86,623

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

CORRECTED

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORXEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Parker was tried in February 1983, after Groover had been convicted and sentenced. Parker's jury convicted him of first-degree murder for the deaths of Padgett and Sheppard, but found him guilty of only third-degree murder for Dalton's death.² Although Parker's jury recommended life imprisonment for both first-degree murder convictions, the trial court overrode one of those recommendations and sentenced him to death for the Sheppard

² This history of Parker's case is taken from his direct appeal opinion. Parker v. State, 458 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1088, 105 S. Ct. 1855, 85 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1985).

homicide.³ The trial court found that the state established six aggravators to support Parker's death sentence for Sheppard's murder, but this Court disagreed as to two of those aggravators.

Parker v. State, 458 So. 2d 750, 754 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1088, 105 s. ct. 1855, 85 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1985). Even without those aggravators, however, this Court affirmed Parker's death sentence. Id. at 755. The United States Supreme Court eventually vacated that sentence and remanded for reconsideration because, on direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court did not perform a harmless error analysis. Parker v. Duaaer, 489 U.S. 308, 111 S. Ct. 731, 112 L. Ed. 2d 812 (1991). On remand this Court ordered Parker's death sentence reduced to life imprisonment. Parker v. State, 643 so. 2d 1032 (Fla. 1994).

As set out before, this Court found that Scott and Robinson were equally culpable and virtually indistinguishable. Groover and Parker, on the other hand, are clearly and easily distinguishable from one another. The state proved that Groover shot and killed both Dalton and Padgett. E.g., Parker, 458 So. 2d at 752. Parker, although involved in these murders, did not actually kill any of

³ As stated earlier, Groover received two death sentences for killing Dalton and Padgett. The trial court sentenced Groover to life imprisonment for Sheppard's killing.

the victims. Id. Groover was convicted of three counts of first-degree murder, while Parker was convicted of only two counts of first-degree murder. Groover's jury recommended death for Dalton's murder and life imprisonment for Sheppard's and Padgett's; Parker's jury recommended life imprisonment for both of his first-degree murder convictions. Groover received two death sentences - for Dalton and Padgett; Parker received only one for Sheppard. All four of Groover's aggravators were affirmed on appeal, Groover, 458 so. 2d at 229; two of Parker's were held invalid. Parker, 458 So. 2d at 754.

Given the differences between Groover and Parker, especially their different culpabilities, the reduction of Parker's sentence for Sheppard's murder is irrelevant to Groover's two death sentences for his killing Dalton and Padgett. As this Court has long recognized: "It is permissible to impose different sentences on capital codefendants where their various degrees of participation and culpability are different from one another."

White v. Dugger, 523 So. 2d 140, 141 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S.
871, 109 S. Ct. 184, 102 L. Ed. 2d 153 (1988); Cardona v. State, 641 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1122, 130 L.
Ed. 2d 1085 (1995); Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994);
Sein orst v. Singletary, 638 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1994); Colina v.

State, 634 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 1994); Robinson v. State. 610 So. 2d
1288 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1205, 127 L. Ed. 2d 553
(1994); Coleman v. State, 610 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1992), cert.
denied, 114 S. Ct. 321, 126 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1993); Hoffman v. State.
474 so. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1985). Groover's disparate treatment is
warranted by the facts, as the trial court determined.

Groover ignores the fact that he, not Parker, killed both Dalton and Padgett and that he and Parker were not equally culpable codefendants. Instead, he claims that "Parker was the chief instigator of the offense and exercised total control and dominance over Mr. Groover." (Initial brief at 6). Groover complains that at Parker's trial the state claimed that Parker instigated the murders and intimidated him and Long into committing them. (Initial brief at 7). He sets out a minute portion of the testimony of one of more than twenty state witnesses against Parker (initial brief at 7-8) and implies that the state improperly took inconsistent positions in the two trials, i.e., blaming everything on Groover in his trial and everything on Parker in his.

only because he was afraid of Parker. Groover, 458 So. 2d at 227. In closing argument Groover's counsel argued that he was not guilty. (E.g., T 1478). The prosecutor then told the jurors that

Groover "wants you to try Billy Long and Tinker [Robert] Parker and Elaine Parker, but he's on trial here today" and that "you're not here to make value judgments about guilt among people, you're here to determine whether or not he's guilty." (T 1520-21). Defense counsel then blamed everyone else connected with the case instead of Groover (T 1554) and argued that Groover was the fall guy for the others. (T 1575). Most of the evidence that Groover cites as distinguishing him from Parker (initial brief at 7-8, 10-12) was brought out at his trial,

Parker, on the other hand, claimed that Groover's threats against his family forced him into cooperating in the victims' murders. Parker, 458 So. 2d at 752. The state argued in closing that Parker controlled events the night the victims were killed (e.g., Parker record at 2155) and that, under the law of principals, Parker must be treated as if he had done all the things that the other participants did. (Parker record at 2184). Defense counsel pointed out that Groover killed Dalton and Padgett and that Long killed Sheppard. (Parker record at 2191). He argued that Parker did nothing to further the killings and did not actively participate in them. (Parker record at 2193).

Obviously, as evidenced by the convictions, neither Groover's jury nor Parker's believed their theories of defense. In his

sentencing order the trial judge noted that only Groover's testimony, and not any other evidence, supported the coercion claim and disposed of that claim by stating:

"On various occasions during the hours of the crime each of them was armed while the other was not. Had defendant been threatened at any time by Parker, he had the opportunity to escape or to defend himself.

The evidence of this seven-day trial belies defendant's contention of duress and/or dominance of Parker or any other person. In fact, it was the action of defendant in trying to collect the drug debt from Padgett which set the entire sequence of homicidal events into motion."

Groover, 458 So. 2d at 229 (quoting the trial court's findings of fact). This Court approved these findings in affirming Groover's convictions and sentences, and the trial court noted them in denying relief in this case. (PCR 56).

That the state did its best to convict each defendant of the charges against him and that the same evidence was not introduced at both trials is essentially irrelevant. "The purpose of a criminal trial is not to gauge defendants against each other, but to gauge their alleged crimes against the requirements of the law. Sometimes this may mean that one or more defendants will receive a harsher penalty." Espinosa v. State, 589 So. 2d 887, 895 (Fla. 1991) (Kogan, J., dissenting), reversed on other grounds, 112 s.

Ct. 2926, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992). Moreover, "the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute."

State v. Bloom, 497 So. 2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986).

The state has no duty to inform a trial court and jury that it took an inconsistent position in the trial of another defendant.

Parker v. State, 542 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1989). When there is no necessary contradiction in the state's positions in codefendants' trials, no due process violation occurs. Parker v. Singletary, 974

F.2d 1562 (11th Cir. 1992); see also. Bush v. Sinaletary, 988 F.2d

1082, 1088 (11th Cir. 1993) ('The petitioner must prove that misleading evidence was presented and that it was material in obtaining his conviction"). Even though the state emphasized Parker's involvement when it tried him, it proved in Parker's trial that Groover killed both Dalton and Padgett. It proved the same thing in Groover's trial. There was, therefore, no real contradiction between the evidence presented at Groover's trial and that presented at Parker's.

The trial court's comparison of this case with Hannon (PCR 56-57) and its citation of Cardona, Steinhorst, and Coleman (PCR 57) were proper. This Court agreed that all of those defendants were more culpable than their codefendants, just as Groover was more culpable than Parker. Contrary to Groover's contention, Scott

(Paul) v. State, 657 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1995), is not on point.

Paul Scott's codefendant, whom Scott claimed was the actual killer,

is now free; Parker is still in prison and likely to stay there for

life. Also, it has long been established that Groover, not Parker,

was the actual killer.

As the trial court held, Groover has failed to demonstrate that he and Parker were equally culpable codefendants. Without such a showing he cannot meet the second part of the Scott test, i.e., he has not shown that Parker's reduced sentence for Sheppard's death, if known at trial, would probably have prevented his receiving two death sentences for killing Dalton and Padgett. This is especially true because the sentence for Dalton's murder was based on the jury's recommendation of death. Because Groover has not met the Scott test, and because this Court affirmed all four aggravators found by the trial court, there is no need for this Court to perform a harmless error analysis, like it did on Parker's remand, and consider the evidence Groover introduced in an attempt to mitigate his sentence. Parker's receiving a lesser sentence would be of little or no weight in mitigation for Groover due to the difference in their culpability. This Court, therefore, should affirm the trial court's denial of relief.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE POSTCONVICTION MOTION WITHOUT HEARING THE PARTIES IN PERSON.

Groover argues that the court erred by denying his third motion for postconviction relief without allowing counsel to argue in support of the motion in person. There is no merit to this issue.

In <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982, 983 (Fla. 1993), this Court held "that henceforth the judge must allow the attorneys to appear before the court and be heard on an initial 3,850 motion." (Emphasis supplied). The Court went on further and stated: "This does not mean that the judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing in all death penalty postconviction cases. Instead, the hearing before the judge is for the purpose of determining whether an evidentiary hearing is required and to hear legal argument relating to the motion." Id. Since Huff, this Court has reiterated the procedure set out in that case. E.g., Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1058 (Fla. 1993) ("in a death case a trial court must give the parties the opportunity to appear in person to argue the postconviction motion and whether an evidentiary hearing is needed") (footnote omitted); Jackson v. Dusser, 633 So. 2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1993) ("trial judge must allow counsel for death penalty defendants to orally argue the legal issues presented in an initial
motion for postconviction relief") (emphasis supplied).

Huff, Lopez, and Jackson are distinguishable from this case because in each of those cases an initial rule 3.850 motion was at issue. This, however, is Groover's third motion for postconviction relief. As demonstrated in issue III, infra, all of the facts needed to decide the newly discovered evidence issue were apparent on the face of the motion and the record and no evidentiary hearing was needed to develop other facts. The motion is self-explanatory, and there was no need to have the parties argue in person.

Groover also argues that, because he did not receive a copy of the state's motion to dismiss, "the court's summary denial was predicated, in part, on argument by the State to which Mr. Groover had no opportunity to respond." (Initial brief at 23). This is incorrect. The trial court denied the original third motion on the merits and dismissed the amended motion. The state's motion to dismiss argued that the amended motion lacked verification and permission to amend and was untimely. (PCR 46-48). The state never responded to the merits of the newly discovered evidence claim until its response to Groover's motion for rehearing. (PCR 94-95). Moreover, as pointed out in the state's response to Groover's motion for rehearing, failing to receive a copy of the

State's motion to dismiss, while unfortunate, was not the state's fault. (PCR 92-93). No improper ex parte communication occurred.

See Swafford v. State, 636 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 1994).

Contrary to Groover's contention, his third postconviction motion should not have been treated **as** if it were a first rule 3.850 motion. Groover has failed to demonstrate what argument would have accomplished and has shown nothing that prejudiced him. The trial court committed no error in not having the parties argue the motion in person, and the court's order should be affirmed in all respects.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED GROOVER'S MOTION WITHOUT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

The trial court summarily denied Groover's third motion for postconviction relief. Groover now argues that the court should have held an evidentiary hearing. There is no merit to this issue.

A trial court need not hold an evidentiary hearing on a postconviction motion when the movant's claims are conclusively rebutted by the record. Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993); Roberts v. State, 568 SO. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). Here, as the trial court held, the record conclusively shows that Groover and Robert Parker were not equally culpable:

In the Padgett murder, the defendant was the only triggerman. While Padgett begged for his life, the defendant shot him in the head and then reloaded his gun and shot him again. In the Dalton murder, the defendant once again was the only triggerman. After kicking and beating Dalton, the defendant shot her five times in the head and body. In the Sheppard murder, although the defendant was not the triggerman, he encouraged Long to "shoot her [Sheppard] again" and offered Long a knife so that he could cut her throat. Further, as to the Sheppard murder, the court notes that there is no disparity between the defendant's sentences Parker's and sentence as defendant and Parker were both convicted of first degree murder and both received life sentences. Αs the evidence shows, defendant was clearly more culpable than his Parker. codefendant, Accordingly, the defendant's death sentences are not disproportionate when compared with Parker's life sentences as the defendant was culpable than Parker. <u>Hannon v. State</u>, 638 so. 2d 39, 44 (Fla. 1994); see also Cardona v. 641 So. 2d 361, 365 (Fla. Steinhorst v. Singletary, 638 So. 2d 33, 35 (Fla. 1994); <u>Coleman v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1283, 1287 (Fla. 1992).

(PCR 56) (footnote omitted). As demonstrated in issue I, supra, the record supports the trial court's findings. An evidentiary hearing is needed only when there are issues of fact that cannot be resolved conclusively from the record. Heiney v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1990).

In <u>Scott</u> the trial court summarily denied Scott's newly discovered evidence claim. 604 So. 2d at 468. On appeal this

Court decided the issue on its merits on the pleadings and record and saw no need for an evidentiary hearing. The same is true in the instant case because all of the facts needed to determine the issue are apparent on the record. The record conclusively shows, as found by the trial court, that Groover and Parker were not equally culpable. Because no facts were in dispute, the trial court correctly found no necessity for an evidentiary hearing. There is no merit to this issue, and the trial court's order should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED GROOVER'S AMENDED POSTCONVICTION MOTION.

The trial court denied Groover's original third postconviction motion and dismissed the amended motion because it was not verified, because he did not receive permission to file an amended motion, and because the public records requests were untimely. Groover complains about the dismissal, but demonstrates no reversible error.

Groover first claims that the court erred in holding that he should have received permission from the court before filing the amended motion. Groover claims that Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.190(a) gives him the right to amend his motion when and

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